FILED Court of Appeals Division II State of Washington 5/9/2019 10:42 AM

97187-1

Court of Appeals No. 50406-5-II

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

FUTUREWISE,

Appellant,

v.

CITY OF RIDGEFIELD, MILT BROWN, RDGB ROYAL FARMS LLC, RDGK REST VIEW ESTATES LLC, RDGM RAWHIDE ESTATES LLC, RDGF RIVER VIEW ESTATES LLC, and RDGS REAL VIEW LLC,

Respondents.

FUTUREWISE'S PETITION FOR REVIEW BY THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Tim Trohimovich, WSBA No. 22367 Futurewise 816 Second Ave. Ste. 200 Seattle, Washington, 98104 (206) 343-0681 Ext. 102 Email: tim@futurewise.org Attorney for the Appellant Futurewise

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Whether the court of appeals' decision conflicts with the Washington Supreme Court's *Schnitzer West* decision when the court of appeals concluded that a specific party had not initiated the rezone challenged in this case?

2. Whether Futurewise had representational standing to challenge the annexation and rezone at issue in this appeal and whether this is an issue of substantial public interest or the court of appeals decision conflicts with the Washington State Supreme Court's *SAVE v. Bothell* opinion?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Clark County updated its Comprehensive Land Use Plan on June 28, 2016. As part of this update, Clark County dedesignated 111 acres of agricultural land of long-term commercial significance and included this land in the Ridgefield urban growth area (UGA). Futurewise appealed the agricultural lands dedesignation and the UGA expansion, along with other issues, to the Growth Management Hearings Board on July 22, 2016. The Board concluded that the agricultural lands dedesignation and UGA expansion violated the Growth Management Act (GMA) on March 23, 2019. This decision is under appeal, but is still good law.

On September 8, 2016, the Ridgefield City Council adopted Ordinance No. 1216 which annexed 111.42 acres north of the City and zoned this land Residential Law Density 6 (RLD-6) with an Urban Holding 10 (UH-

¹ Clerk's Papers (CP) 157, Clark County Citizens United, Inc., Friends of Clark County, and Futurewise v. Clark County, GMHB Case No. 16-2-0005c, Final Decision and Order (March 23, 2017), at 4 of 101.

² CP 175 – 76, CP 190 – 96, *Id.* at 22 – 23, 37 – 43 of 101.

³ CP 157, CP 171 – 72, & CP 186, *Id.* at 4, 18 – 19, 33 of 101.

⁴ CP 175 – 76, CP 190 – 96, *Id.* at 22 – 23, 37 – 43 of 101.

10) overlay.⁵ The City of Ridgefield refers to this annexation as the Brown Annexation.⁶ The annexation became effective on October 14, 2016.⁷

The RLD-6 zone is a low-density residential zone that allows single-family and duplex residences with a density of six dwelling units per net acre. The UH-10 zone overlay requires a density of one dwelling unit per ten acres until provisions are made to provide the public facilities and services needed to support the density of the underlying RLD-6 zone.

The annexation and rezone were initiated by an annexation petition filed by RDGB Royal Farms LLC, RDGK Rest View Estates LLC, RDGM Rawhide Estates LLC, RDGF River View Estates LLC, and RDGS Real View LLC (hereinafter the LCCs) and signed by Mr. Brown. 10 According to the "Introductory Statement for Annexation" Mr. Brown and the LLCs requested low density single-family uses. 11

In Clark County Superior Court Case No. 16-2-01813-4, Futurewise appealed the annexation under several causes of action including a complaint and petition for declaratory judgment filed under the Uniform

⁵ CP 22, City of Ridgefield Ordinance No. 1216 p. 3.

⁶ CP 20, City of Ridgefield Ordinance No. 1216 p. 1.

⁷ CP 23, City of Ridgefield Ordinance No. 1216 p. 4.

⁸ Chapter 18.210 Ridgefield Development Code (RDC) - Residential Low Density Districts (RLD-4, RLD-6, RLD-8).

⁹ RDC 18.210.015C.

 $^{^{10}}$ CP 22, City of Ridgefield Ordinance No. 1216 p. 3; CP 348 – 49, Notice of Intend to Annex pp. *1 – 2.

¹¹ CP 355, Milt Brown Ridgefield Master Use Application p. 6.

Declaratory Judgments Act, chapter 7.24 RCW.¹² Also in Superior Court Case No. 16-2-01813-4, Futurewise appealed the City of Ridgefield's rezones under the Land Use Petition Act, chapter 36.70C RCW.¹³

The Clark Regional Wastewater District "operates a system of sewer facilities, including the collection system for the City of Ridgefield." On an agenda bill dated February 28, 2017, the District staff recommended that the district authorize the General Manager to sign a Developer Agreement with Pioneer Place Ridgefield LLC. The agreement requires Pioneer Place Ridgefield LLC to "construct and install" the Pioneer Place Pump Station on land "owned by Milt Brown and/or related corporations" This land is within the Brown Annexation. The Pioneer Place Pump Station was needed to serve the Pioneer Place subdivision "as well"

_

¹² CP 13 − 17, Complaint and Petition For Judicial Review Under RCW 36.70C; Petition For Declaratory Judgment Under RCW 7.24; Petition For Declaratory Judgment under Article IV, Section 6 of the Washington State Constitution; Petition For Writ of Certiorari Under RCW 7.16; Petition For Writ of Certiorari under Washington Constitution, Article IV, Section 6; Petition For Writ of Review Under Washington Constitution, Article IV, Section 6 or The Common-Law 11 − 15. Hereinafter Complaint.

 $^{^{13}}$ CP 12 – 13, Complaint 10 – 11.

 ¹⁴ CP 261, AB # 17-00X Clark Regional Wastewater District Agenda Bill Subject:
 Pioneer Place Developer Reimbursement p. 1 (Agenda Date: 02/28/17).
 ¹⁵ Id

¹⁶ CP 262, Developer Extension, Reimbursement and Service Agreement between Clark Regional Wastewater District and Pioneer Place Ridgefield LLC p. *1.

¹⁷ CP 28, City of Ridgefield Ordinance No. 1216 Exhibit 2 Map of Annexation Area; CP 260, Pioneer Place map; CP 263, Developer Extension, Reimbursement and Service Agreement between Clark Regional Wastewater District and Pioneer Place Ridgefield LLC p. *2; CP 115, Declaration of Cynthia A. Carlson p. 2 (March 1, 2017); CP 356, Vicinity Map.

as an area that was recently added to the Urban Growth Boundary." The area added to the UGA was the Brown Annexation. 19

The Developer Agreement acknowledged that the land on which the Pioneer Place Pump Station will be constructed, the "project land," is the subject of this lawsuit even including Clark County Superior Court Case No. 16-2-01813-4.²⁰ The parties to the Developer Agreement "also agree that the Project Land, and the ability of the Owner to construct and install the Project, could be adversely affected by the Court Case …."²¹

The Developer Agreement provided that Pioneer Place Ridgefield LLC "must receive from the City of Ridgefield a permit or approval for the Project," the Pioneer Place Pump Station ²² This pump station was "being constructed adjacent to our [the Carlson's] southernmost property on parcel 213076000, with pipes and a temporary gravel roadway and ditch on part of parcel 213075000" on March 1, 2017. This is after the Brown Annexation's October 14, 2016, effective date. ²⁴

_

¹⁸ CP 261, AB # 17-00X Clark Regional Wastewater District Agenda Bill Subject: Pioneer Place Developer Reimbursement p. 1 (Agenda Date: 02/28/17).

¹⁹ CP 261 – 66, *Id.* at pp. 1 – 5 (Agenda Date: 02/28/17); CP 115, Declaration of Cynthia A. Carlson p. 2 (March 1, 2017).

 $^{^{20}}$ CP 263 – 64, Developer Extension, Reimbursement and Service Agreement between Clark Regional Wastewater District and Pioneer Place Ridgefield LLC pp. *2 – 3.

²¹ CP 264, *Id.* at p. *3.

²² CP 264, *Id.* at p. *3.

²³ CP 115 & 118, Declaration of Cynthia A. Carlson p. 2 & p. 5 (March 1, 2017).

²⁴ CP 23, City of Ridgefield Ordinance No. 1216 p. 4.

Ms. Carlson wrote that as part of the construction of the Pioneer Place Pump Station, "[w]ater has been pumped from the pump station construction site, harming our property and nearby creeks used by salmon."²⁵ Because the land was annexed to Ridgefield, the land in the Brown Annexation no longer had to comply with the municipal storm water permit required storm water regulations adopted and enforced by Clark County, resulting in harm to Ms. Carlson's property.²⁶

In addition to the storm water injuries in fact, the construction of the Pioneer Place Pump Station adjacent to Ms. Carlson's property damaged her real and personal property by repetitively cutting her back fence allowing cows to escape from her property.²⁷ Ms. Carlson and her husband were forced to relocate their cattle to their front pasture.²⁸ During the time the fence was cut, they did not have adequate pastureland for their cattle.²⁹ An agent for a developer killed one of their calves by mowing over the calf with a brush hog during a survey for the Pioneer Pump Station.³⁰

_

²⁵ CP 116, Declaration of Cynthia A. Carlson p. 3 (March 1, 2017).

²⁶ CP 271, State of Washington Department of Ecology, *Who's Covered Under the Municipal Stormwater Permits?* webpage; CP 276, State of Washington Department of Ecology, Phase I Municipal Stormwater Permit p. 5 of 75 (Modified August 19, 2016).

 $^{^{27}}$ CP 115 – 16, Declaration of Cynthia A. Carlson pp. 2 – 3 (March 1, 2017).

²⁸ CP 116, Declaration of Cynthia A. Carlson p. 3 (March 1, 2017).

²⁹ CP 116, Declaration of Cynthia A. Carlson p. 3 (March 1, 2017).

³⁰ CP 116, Declaration of Cynthia A. Carlson p. 3 (March 1, 2017).

Ms. Carlson is a member of Futurewise.³¹ At least four other Futurewise members own property adjacent to the Brown Annexation and their properties have been harmed by the annexation and the construction that followed the annexation.³²

This is the second time that Clark County has illegally expanded its UGAs onto agricultural lands and cities annexed some of that land.³³ The County, cities, and developers then claim that the Growth Management Hearings Board cannot review the GMA violations on the annexed land.³⁴ Ridgefield annexed illegal UGA expansions after both the 2007 and 2016 Clark County comprehensive plan updates.³⁵

V. ARGUMENT

1. The court of appeals' decision conflicts with the State Supreme Court's *Schnitzer West* decision by concluded that a specific party had not initiated the rezone and so an appeal of the rezone was not authorized by the Land Use Petition Act.

³¹ CP 115, Declaration of Cynthia A. Carlson p. 2 (March 1, 2017).

 $^{^{32}}$ CP 5 – 6, Complaint and Petition pp. 3 – 4; CP 93 – 94, Affidavit of Edward Niece pp. 2 – 3; CP 95 – 97, Affidavit of Janice Myev pp. 1 – 3; CP 106 – 112, Affidavit of Newt Rumble and Barbara Kusik pp. 2 – 8.

³³ Clark Cty. Washington v. W. Washington Growth Mgmt. Hearings Review Bd., 161 Wn. App. 204, 245 – 46, 254 P.3d 862, 881 (2011) vacated in part Clark Cty. v. W. Washington Growth Mgmt. Hearings Review Bd., 177 Wn.2d 136, 298 P.3d 704 (2013); CP 174 – 76, CP 190 – 96, Clark County Citizens United, Inc., Friends of Clark County, and Futurewise v. Clark County, GMHB Case No. 16-2-0005c, Final Decision and Order (March 23, 2017), 21—23 & 37 – 43 of 101.

³⁵ Clark Cty. Washington, 161 Wn. App. at 245 – 46, 254 P.3d at 881; CP 174 – 76, CP 190 – 96, Clark County Citizens United, Inc., Friends of Clark County, and Futurewise v. Clark County, GMHB Case No. 16-2-0005c, Final Decision and Order (March 23, 2017), 21—23 & 37 – 43 of 101.

Rule of Appellate Procedure (RAP) 13.4(b)(1) provides that one of the reasons that a petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court is "[i]f the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court …" This Court's *Schnitzer West* decision addressed the question of when a zoning change is requested by a specific party.³⁶

The Land Use Petition Act, chapter 36.70C RCW, "grants the superior court exclusive jurisdiction to review a local jurisdiction's land use decisions, with the exception of decisions subject to review by bodies such as the" Growth Management Hearings Boards (GMHBs).³⁷ "GMHBs do not have jurisdiction over challenges to site-specific land use decisions because site-specific land use decisions do not qualify as comprehensive plans or development regulations."³⁸ One type of site-specific land use decision that must be challenged under LUPA is a site specific rezone authorized by a then-existing comprehensive plan.³⁹

"A site-specific rezone requires three factors: (1) a specific tract of land, (2) a request for a classification change, and (3) a specific party

3

³⁶ Schnitzer W., LLC v. City of Puyallup, 190 Wn.2d 568, 577–80, 416 P.3d 1172, 1178–79 (2018).

³⁷ Schnitzer W., LLC, 190 Wn.2d at 575, 416 P.3d at 1177.

³⁸ Schnitzer W., LLC, 190 Wn.2d at 575, 416 P.3d at 1177.

³⁹ Spokane Cty. v. E. Washington Growth Mgmt. Hearings Bd., 176 Wn. App. 555, 572, 309 P.3d 673, 681 (2013) review denied Spokane Cty. v. E. Washington Growth Mgmt. Hearings Bd., 179 Wn.2d 1015, 318 P.3d 279 (2014).

making the request."⁴⁰ At issue in this case is whether a specific party made the rezone request.⁴¹

The *Schnitzer West* decision concluded that "the government can be a specific party for the purpose of a site-specific rezone classification."⁴² *Schnitzer West* cited the *Feil v. Eastern Washington Growth Management Hearings Board* decision. There the Washington State Parks and Recreation Commission filed a consolidated application with Douglas County to "establish an [Recreational Overlay] R–O district and to obtain a site development permit …"⁴³. The establishment of the R-O district was found "to be a rezone."⁴⁴ The Supreme Court concluded that the

project, which permits application of a district overlay to a site-specific proposal on an individual property, is a site-specific land use decision. We conclude that, under the GMA statutory scheme, the [Eastern Washington Growth Management Hearings Board] EWGMHB did not erroneously interpret or misapply the law when it determined that it did not have jurisdiction to review this site-specific decision."⁴⁵

While *Feil* did not interpret the specific party requirement it does support the proposition that a government can be a specific party for the

⁴⁰ Schnitzer W., LLC, 190 Wn.2d at 576, 416 P.3d at 1177.

⁴¹ Futurewise v. City of Ridgefield, Wash. Ct. App. No. 50406-5-II Slip Op. 12, 2019 WL 366838, at *6 (Jan. 29, 2019) (unpublished).

⁴² Schnitzer W., LLC, 190 Wn.2d at 579, 416 P.3d at 1178.

⁴³ Feil v. E. Washington Growth Mgmt. Hearings Bd., 172 Wn.2d 367, 373, 259 P.3d 27, 229–30 (2011), as corrected (Sept. 29, 2011), as corrected (Jan. 10, 2012).

⁴⁴ Feil, 172 Wn.2d at 375, 259 P.3d at 230.

⁴⁵ Feil, 172 Wn.2d at 380, 259 P.3d at 233.

purposes of a rezone as the *Schnitzer West* opinion stated.⁴⁶ In resolving this question, the *Schnitzer West* opinion noted that the government regularly approves its own actions⁴⁷ and that not recognizing governments as a specific party would undermine LUPA's "primarily focus on ensuring that a party impacted by a land use decision was treated fairly by the decision-maker, in process and in substance."⁴⁸ Finally, the Puyallup Municipal Code "names the city council as a specific party that has the authority to initiate a site-specific rezone application."⁴⁹ So the *Schnitzer West* opinion held "that site-specific rezones—regardless of the initiating party—are reviewable under LUPA."⁵⁰

In this case, the court of appeals first concluded that the LLCs requested an annexation, not that "the City adopt any particular zoning on the property."51

The court of appeals then concluded that

the City did not adopt the zoning for the annexed property based on any request. Instead, the City's adoption of RLD-6 zoning with a UH-10 overlay was mandated by the City's municipal code. Ridgefield Municipal Code (RMC) 18.210.015(B) states, "The city shall designate all newly annexed RLD land as RLD-6 or greater density." RMC 18.210.015(C) states, "The city shall place an urban

⁴⁶ Schnitzer W., LLC, 190 Wn.2d at 579, 416 P.3d at 1178.

⁴⁷ Schnitzer W., LLC, 190 Wn.2d at 578, 416 P.3d at 1178.

⁴⁸ Schnitzer W., LLC, 190 Wn.2d at 579, 416 P.3d at 1179.

⁴⁹ Schnitzer W., LLC, 190 Wn.2d at 580, 416 P.3d at 1179.

⁵⁰ Schnitzer W., LLC, 190 Wn.2d at 583, 416 P.3d at 1180.

⁵¹ Futurewise, Ct. App. No. 50406-5-II Slip Op. p. 12, 2019 WL 366838, at *6.

holding (UH) overlay on all lands which are not adequately served by necessary capital facilities." The ordinance expressly states that the City adopted these zoning classifications as required by RMC 18.210.015(B) and (C).⁵²

But some party must initiate a rezone. Ridgefield Development Code (RDC) 18.210.015(B) requires "RLD-6 or greater density." The City Council could have adopted a higher density zone. Similarly, the City Council had to decide if the lands were not adequately served by necessary capital facilities and if so whether to adopt the Urban Holding 10 (UH-10) overlay. If the LCCs' request for low density single-family uses controlled, the LCCs were the specific party making the request.⁵³ Alternatively, the City was the specific party requesting for the RLD-6 zoning. RDC 18.320.030(B) provides that "[a]s the city annexes land, it may be necessary for the city to apply zoning districts and overlay districts to ensure compliance with the [Ridgefield Urban Area Comprehensive Plan] RUACP. In such cases, the city shall apply zoning at the time of annexation." RDC 18.320.040 also provides that "[t]he planning director, city council or planning commission, or petition of the property owner may initiate a petition to amend the RUACP." The RUACP is defined to

52 **I**

⁵³ CP 355, Milt Brown Ridgefield Master Use Application p. 6; CP 22, City of Ridgefield Ordinance No. 1216 p. 3.

include the City zoning map.⁵⁴ So like the Puyallup City Council, the Ridgefield City Council is authorized to initiate a site-specific rezone. And the Ridgefield City Council adopted the zoning appealed in this case.⁵⁵

The court of appeals' fixation on whether a person or the municipal code initiated the rezone is contrary to the *Schnitzer West* "hold[ing] that site-specific rezones—regardless of the initiating party—are reviewable under LUPA." So this decision is inconsistent with *Schnitzer West*.

Futurewise recognizes that *Schnitzer West* was a plurality opinion.⁵⁷
This case gives the Court the opportunity to correct the inconsistency with the court of appeals decision and to reaffirm *Schnitzer West*.

2. Futurewise had representational standing to challenge the annexation and rezone at issue in this appeal and this is an issue of substantial public interest or the decision conflicts with SAVE v. Bothell.

RAP 13.4(b)(4) provides that one of the reasons that a petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court is "[i]f the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." Under *SAVE v. Bothell*, Futurewise had representational standing to challenge the annexation and rezone. This is an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme

⁵⁵ CP 22, City of Ridgefield Ordinance No. 1216 p. 3.

⁵⁴ RDC 18.010.010(B) and RDC 18.200.020.

⁵⁶ Schnitzer W., LLC, 190 Wn.2d at 583, 416 P.3d at 1180.

⁵⁷ Schnitzer W., LLC, 190 Wn.2d at 583–84, 416 P.3d at 1181.

Court. Further, since the decision in this case is inconsistent with *SAVE*, RAP 13.4(b)(1)'s criterion calling on the Court to review decisions that conflict with State Supreme Court decisions also applies.

In *Grant County Fire Protection District No. 5 v. City of Moses Lake*, the State Supreme Court set out the requirements for standing under the Uniform Declaratory Judgments Act (UDJA), chapter 7.24 RCW:

This court has established a two-part test to determine standing under the UDJA. The first part of the test asks whether the interest sought to be protected is "arguably within the zone of interests to be protected or regulated by the statute or constitutional guarantee in question." *Save a Valuable Env't v. City of Bothell*, 89 Wn.2d 862, 866, 576 P.2d 401 (1978) (quoting *Ass'n of Data Processing Serv. Orgs., Inc. v. Camp*, 397 U.S. 150, 152–53, 90 S.Ct. 827, 25 L.Ed.2d 184 (1970)). The second part of the test considers whether the challenged action has caused "injury in fact," economic or otherwise, to the party seeking standing. *Id.* at 866, 576 P.2d 401. Both tests must be met by the party seeking standing.⁵⁸

The *Grant County Fire Protection District No. 5* case was a UDJA challenge to an annexation⁵⁹ as is this case. When standing is challenged, the plaintiffs must present testimony, affidavits, or declarations showing they have standing.⁶⁰

⁵⁸ Grant Cty. Fire Prot. Dist. No. 5 v. City of Moses Lake, 150 Wn.2d 791, 802, 83 P.3d 419, 423 (2004).

⁵⁹ Grant Cty. Fire Prot. Dist. No. 5, 150 Wn.2d at 801 – 03, 83 P.3d at 423.

⁶⁰ Anderson v. Pierce Cty., 86 Wn. App. 290, 299, 936 P.2d 432, 438 (1997); Snohomish Cty. Prop. Rights All. v. Snohomish Cty., 76 Wn. App. 44, 47–48, 882 P.2d 807, 808–09 (1994) review denied Snohomish Cty. Prop. Rights All. v. Snohomish Cty., 125 Wn.2d 1025, 890 P.2d 464 (1995).

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