FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
6/10/2019 3:21 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 97187-1

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Court of Appeals No. 50406-5-II

### FUTUREWISE,

Appellant,

٧.

CITY OF RIDGEFIELD, MILT BROWN, RDGB ROYAL FARMS LLC, RDGK REST VIEW ESTATES LLC, RDGM RAWHIDE ESTATES LLC, RDGF RIVER VIEW ESTATES LLC, and RDGS REAL VIEW LLC, Respondents.

### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

James D. Howsley WSBA #32442
jamie.howsley@jordanramis.com
Jordan Ramis PC
1499 SE Tech Center Place, Ste. 380
Vancouver, WA 98683
Telephone: (360) 567-3900
Attorneys for Respondents
Milt Brown, RDGB Royal Farms
LLC, RDGK REST VIEW
ESTATES LLC, RDGM

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

CP 20-21.

With respect to the Clark Regional Wastewater District sewer facilities, the pump station, and developer agreement with a non-party entity (Pioneer Place Ridgefield LLC), Respondents defer to their Answer to Motion for Reconsideration, filed in the below court of appeals matter (Case No. 50406-5-II). See Resp't Answer to Mot. for Reconsideration. Respondents Answer to Motion for Reconsideration discusses precisely why the annexation ordinance at issue has

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Clark County, et. al., v. Growth Management Hearings Board, et. al., No. 50847-8 (Div. II, 2017). Futurewise incorrectly asserts that the GMHB decision in GMHB Case No. 16-2-0005c is "still good law" and effects these proceedings. Pet. for Review, at 2. GMA relief is prospective only: "[a] determination of invalidity is prospective in effect..." RCW 36.70A.302(2). A GMA decision "does not extinguish rights that vested under state or local law before receipt of the board's order by the city of county." RCW 36.70A.302(2). Thus, annexations completed during a GMHB appeal prior to the Board's decision cannot violate any future, prospective Board determinations.

no legal relationship with the sewer facilities, pump station, or developer agreement, and thus, provides no basis for standing in this case. Further, Respondents emphasize the fact that the Pioneer Place Pump Station is not associated with the annexation ordinance at issue in this appeal, and Futurewise could have challenged the approval for that pump station but did not.

With respect to Futurewise's statements regarding alleged harm from the annexation ordinance, there is <u>no</u> construction or development authorized by the annexation ordinance. Pet. for Review, at 6-7. Any and all allegations of harm arising from annexation ordinance are completely speculative and unknown at this point, as further discussed below.

### B. Procedural History.

On September 16, 2016, Futurewise filed a "Complaint and Petition for Judicial Review Under RCW 26.70C; Petition for Declaratory Judgment Under RCW 7.24; Petition for Declaratory Judgment Under Article IV, Section 6 of the Washington State Constitution; Petition for Writ of Certiorari Under RCW 7.16; Petition for Writ of Certiorari Under Washington; Article IV, Section 6; Petition for Writ of Review Under Washington Constitution, Article IV, Section 6 of the Common-Law" (hereafter "Complaint") in Superior Court alleging that Ordinance No. 1216 is "invalid and in violation of the requirements of Chapter 35A.14 RCW, Annexation by Code Cities, Chapter 36.70A RCW, the Growth Management Act, and other applicable provisions of state law, and the Ridgefield Development Code." CP 1, 4.

In response to Futurewise's Complaint, the LLCs filed a Motion to

Dismiss on December 27, 2016, alleging lack of standing, lack of jurisdiction, and seeking the dismissal of Mr. Brown, as an individual. CP 49–50. After two rounds of briefing and significant oral argument, the trial court granted the LLCs' Motion to Dismiss. CP 402. Futurewise then appealed to Division II, which issued a 19-page decision unanimously affirming the LLC's Motion to Dismiss. *See* Final Decision.

### IV. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

Rules of Appellate Procedure ("RAP") 13.4(b) states that a petition for review will only be accepted if one or more of the four listed criteria are met. Futurewise argues that the Final Decision is in conflict with two particular decisions of the Supreme Court and that its petition involves issues of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (4). Futurewise fails to demonstrate that its petition satisfies either of these criteria, and this Court should deny its Petition for Review.

# A. Division II's Final Decision Does Not Create Conflict with Supreme Court Precedent Regarding Site-Specific Rezones

Futurewise first argues that the Court of Appeals decision created a conflict with existing precedent, specifically *Schnitzer West*, because Division II concluded that the zoning of the annexed property was not a site-specific rezone subject to the Land Use Petition Act, RCW 36.70C ("LUPA"). Pet. for Review, at 7-11.

Division II analyzed the three requirements for a site-specific rezone, as described in *Schnitzer West*, and concluded that neither of the parties involved

requested a specific classification change: the LLCs requested annexation (but not particular zoning), and the City, upon decision on annexation, only applied default zoning to the annexed properties as required by City Code. Final Decision, at 11-12. Accordingly, Division II concluded that the adoption of zoning for the annexed property was not a site-specific rezone decision, and thus, not subject to LUPA and superior court jurisdiction. *Id.* The Final Decision is fully consistent with *Schnitzer West*.

Futurewise further argues that the Court of Appeals erred because "some party must initiate the rezone," that the City Council could have adopted a higher density zone if it wished, and that the City Council was authorized to initiate a site-specific rezone under City Code. Final Decision, at 11-12. Thus, Futurewise asserts, the Court of Appeals acted in conflict with *Schnitzer West* when it concluded that the City did not adopt the zoning for the properties based on any request, rather that it was mandated by City Code upon annexation. *Id*.

Initially and importantly, as a plurality opinion, *Schnitzer West* offers persuasive authority, but not binding authority. *Schnitzer West*, 190 Wn.2d 568, 416 P.3d 1172 (2018); *Lauer v. Pierce Cnty.*, 173, Wn.2d 242, 258, 267 P.3d 988 (2011) (quotations omitted); *State v. Clark-El*, 196 Wn. App. 614, 619-20, 384 P.3d 627 (2016); *Koenig v. Pierce Cnty.*, 151 Wn. App. 221, 231, 211 P.3d 423 (2009). Even so, and as discussed below, Division II's analysis of the facts at issue is consistent with the holding of *Schnitzer West*. Futurewise has failed to demonstrate that the Final Decision is in conflict with *Schnitzer West*. Even a conflict did exist, Futurewise has failed to demonstrate that conflict with merely persuasive authority satisfies the rule.

Second, whether the annexation decision at issue was a "site-specific rezone" for the purposes of LUPA jurisdiction is irrelevant to the primary issue of Futurewise's standing in this matter. Moving the jurisdictional line between superior court (LUPA) and the growth management hearings board (GMA) does not create an injury-in-fact, which Appellant lacks but must demonstrate in order to establish standing. Futurewise exercised its rights before the Growth Management Hearings Board and brought forward its alleged GMA violations; it fully exercised the rights afforded to it under state law.

Finally, notwithstanding the non-binding nature of *Schnitzer West*,

Futurewise's application of *Schnitzer West* to this matter is inaccurate and misplaced. *Schnitzer West* provides that a governmental entity (specifically, a city council) may be an initiating party for purposes of site-specific rezones. *Schnitzer West*, 90 Wn.2d at 577-78. However, that holding has no bearing on whether the City of Ridgefield, in this case, was in fact the initiating party. In other words, just because a governmental entity may be the initiating party does not mean upon any annexation the entity is necessarily the initiating party.

Futurewise asserts that the "court of appeals' fixation on whether a person or the municipal code initiated the rezone is contrary to the *Schnitzer West* 'hold[ing] that site-specific rezones—regardless of the initiating party—are reviewable under LUPA." Pet. for Review, at 12. In doing so, Futurewise tacitly acknowledges that Division II analyzed the facts under appeal to determine whether there was indeed a specific party initiating the rezone request. *Schnitzer West* does <u>not</u> dictate that the governmental entity is <u>always</u> the initiating party in certain instances; rather, *Schnitzer West* provides the framework to assess whether

there is a site-specific rezone at issue and clarifies that a governmental entity <u>can</u> be the initiating party. Those critical findings under *Schnitzer West* are not at all in conflict with the Final Decision. In fact, Division II analyzed the alleged site-specific rezone consistent with *Schnitzer West*, and concluded that the City was not specifically requesting the rezone, since the annexed property was zoned purely on the basis of pre-existing default Code requirements following annexation. *Schnitzer West* does not contradict that conclusion in any respect.

Reduced to basics, Futurewise's arguments regarding conflict between the Final Decision and *Schnitzer West* relate only to factual distinctions. Factual distinctions, however, do not create a conflict in law. In *Schnitzer West*, the Puyallup City councilors drafted, prepared, and approved the proposed ordinance (applying zoning restrictions to the subject property) at issue; there was no local municipal code mandate or third-party application that the Council then modified or conditioned for approval. In this matter, the City of Ridgefield approved the annexation, and applied the Code-mandated zoning designations for those newly annexed properties.

Not only is the present case significantly distinct factually from *Schnitzer West*, but Division II expressly applied the site-specific rezone criteria outline in *Schnitzer West* to properly resolve that question in this case. For those reasons, the Final Decision is not in conflict with *Schnitzer West*, and Futurewise has failed to demonstrate that the Supreme Court should accept review of the Final Decision.

B. Division II's Final Decision Does Not Create Conflict with Supreme Court Precedent Regarding Representational Standing and There is No Issue of Substantial Public Interest

Futurewise argues Division II incorrectly concluded Futurewise does not

have representational standing to challenge the City of Ridgefield's annexation, and that representational standing, in this matter, is an issue of substantial public interest. Pet. for Review, at 12; RAP 13.4(b)(4). Futurewise further argues that Division II incorrectly interpreted the *SAVE v. Bothell* decision with respect to representational standing, and thus, Division II created conflict with a Supreme Court decision. Pet. for Review, at 12, 15, 19; RAP 13.4(b)(1).

Division II analyzed Futurewise's members' allegations of harm to determine whether there was "sufficient injury because of the annexation." Final Decision, at 16 (emphasis in original). Division II found that the declarations alleging injury inappropriately assumed residential development would occur on the annexed property in the future, that any potential future conditions placed on the proposed development would be inadequate, and that future development would impact their property in the same manner as other nearby developments. *Id.* at 16-17. Division II concluded that such allegations of injury were purely speculative, since the nature and extent of development on the annexed property is unknown and wholly outside the record here. *Id.* at 17.

Division II accurately characterized *SAVE v. Bothell* as inapplicable to the present case because the City of Ridgefield's annexation here did not approve or permit a specific project; rather, the annexation merely moved the annexed property from unincorporated Clark County into the City. *Id.* at 17-18. Unlike in *SAVE*, the unknown nature of development for the annexed property means any alleged injury to "adjacent property owners is speculative." *Id.* at 18. The Brown Annexation

does not authorize any *actual development* to occur and the harm claimed in the four Futurewise member declarations relate to pre-existing development actions that cannot be attributed to the annexation decision. CP 20–28.

Futurewise lacks representational standing to challenge the annexation ordinance. Representational standing requires three elements: (1) the members of the association would otherwise have standing to sue in their own right; (2) the interests that the association seeks to protect are germane to its purpose; and (3) neither the claim asserted nor the relief requested requires the participation of the association's individual members. *Des Moines Marina Ass'n v. City of Des Moines*, 124 Wn. App. 282, 291, 100 P.3d 310, 316 (2004).

Futurewise must show "injury in fact" caused by the annexation to one of its members. *See, e.g, Thompson v. City of Mercer Island*, 193 Wn. App. 653, 662, 375 P.3d 681 (2016).

Regardless of the allegations offered by Futurewise's members, and as Division II emphasized, Ordinance No. 1216 authorizes annexation only and does not authorize development of any type to occur. Future development is unknown and speculative. There is nothing in the annexation allowing a house to be constructed, a sewer pump station to be built, or condemnation for streets. The conditions that would be imposed upon any future development in the area are wholly speculative. Final Decision, at 16-18.

Futurewise argues that the Final Decision denying Futurewise's representational standing creates a conflict with existing Supreme Court precedent, specifically *SAVE v. Bothell*. However, as Division II discussed, *SAVE* involved an entirely different set of facts from the present controversy, and thus,

SAVE was wholly inapplicable to the representational standing arguments in this case. Final Decision, at 17.

In *SAVE*, the organization's members included people residing in the area adjacent to property that was rezoned by the city to permit construction of a shopping center. *SAVE v. Bothell*, 89 Wn.2d at 863-65. The *SAVE* court held that the organization had standing because its members "alleged direct and specific harm to its members which would flow from the building of a shopping center." *Id.* at 868. In that case, it was known that a shopping center would be built. In this case, Ordinance No. 1216 does <u>not</u> approve any specific construction or development; the City merely annexed undeveloped land into the City. Futurewise argues that "*SAVE* was a rezone case just like this [present] case," but this is factually inaccurate. The specific nature of development at the annexed properties is unknown, and thus, entirely different from the facts of *SAVE*. Again, factual distinctions between two cases do not create a conflict in law.

Finally, Futurewise argues its representational standing arguments are issues of substantial public interest because cities are "using annexation as an end run around the normal checks and balances that apply to urban growth area expansions." Pet. for Review, at 19-20. Those "normal checks and balances" of course are nothing more than the express statutory provisions that the City used to accomplish the annexation, and that Futurewise used to challenge the annexation. Adherence to statute hardly qualifies as an improper "end run" sufficient to justify review in this Court.

Representational standing is not an issue of substantial public interest. The case law is abundantly clear, and Division II reviewed, analyzed, and applied that

precedent to conclude that Futurewise could not demonstrate standing because the alleged injuries to its members were entirely speculative. Division II's holding on representational standing has <u>nothing</u> to do with the annexation process. If Futurewise is concerned with the annexation procedures in Washington state, the proper forum for those grievances is the Washington State Legislature. Futurewise's political position on annexations in the state of Washington has not created a new legal issue of substantial public interest requiring the Supreme Court's review and resolution.

#### V. **CONCLUSION**

Futurewise's Petition fails to satisfy any of the criteria for review set forth in RAP 13.4(b). For the reasons above, Futurewise's Petition for Review should be denied.